## Version as at 6 October 2023



## **Adoption Act 1955**

Public Act 1955 No 93

Date of assent 27 October 1955

Commencement 27 October 1955

## **Contents**

		Page
	Title	2
1	Short Title	3
2	Interpretation	3
	Making of adoption orders	
3	Power to make adoption orders	5
4	Restrictions on making adoption orders	5
5	Interim orders to be made in first instance	6
6	Restrictions on placing or keeping a child in a home for adoption	6
7	Consents to adoptions	7
8	Cases where consent may be dispensed with	10
9	Withdrawal of consents	12
10	Social worker to report	13
11	Restrictions on making of orders in respect of adoption	13
12	Revocation of interim order	14
13	Issue of adoption order where an interim order has been made	14
13A	Appeal against refusal to make interim order or adoption order	16
14	Date on which adoption order becomes effective	17

#### Note

The Parliamentary Counsel Office has made editorial and format changes to this version using the powers under subpart 2 of Part 3 of the Legislation Act 2019.

Note 4 at the end of this version provides a list of the amendments included in it.

This Act is administered by the Ministry of Justice.

## **Adoption Act 1955**

	Effect of interim orders and adoption orders	
15	Effect of interim order	17
16	Effect of adoption order	18
17	Effect of overseas adoption	21
	Maori adoptions	
18	Application of Act to Maoris	22
19	Adoptions according to Maori custom not operative	22
	Miscellaneous	
20	Adoption order may be varied or discharged	23
21	Court to which application for adoption order shall be made	25
	[Repealed]	
22	Attendance at hearings	25
22A	Publication of reports of proceedings	26
23	Inspection of adoption records	26
23A	Report on application for inspection	27
24	Evidence in adoption cases [Repealed]	27
25	Prohibition of payments in consideration of adoption	27
26	Restriction upon advertisements	28
27	Offences	29
27A	Offence to induce consent	29
27B	Safety of child where offence committed	30
27C	Extraterritorial jurisdiction in respect of offence under section 27A as required by Optional Protocol	30
27D	Attorney-General's consent required where jurisdiction claimed under section 27C	31
28	Regulations	31
28A	Rules	31
29	Consequential amendments	32
30	Repeals and savings	32
31	References to Child Welfare Officer to be read as references to	32
	social workers, etc	
	Schedule 1	34
	Consequential amendments	
	Schedule 2	35
	Fnactments renealed	_

# An Act to consolidate and amend certain enactments of the Parliament of New Zealand relating to the adoption of children

Title: amended, on 1 January 1987, pursuant to section 29(2) of the Constitution Act 1986 (1986 No 114).

#### 1 Short Title

This Act may be cited as the Adoption Act 1955.

## 2 Interpretation

In this Act, unless the context otherwise requires,—

adopted child means any person concerning whom an adoption order is in force

adoption order means an adoption order made under this Act; and does not include an interim order

**adoptive parent** means any person who adopts a child in accordance with an adoption order; and, in the case of an order made in favour of a married couple on their joint application, means both the spouses; but does not include a spouse who merely consents to an adoption

chief executive means the chief executive of the department

**child** means a person who is under the age of 20 years; and includes any person in respect of whom an interim order is in force, notwithstanding that the person has attained that age

**Commonwealth country** means a country that is a member of the British Commonwealth of Nations; and includes every territory for whose international relations the Government of that country is responsible; and also includes the Republic of Ireland as if that country were a member of the British Commonwealth of Nations

Commonwealth representative means an Ambassador, High Commissioner, Minister, Chargé d'Affaires, Consular Officer, Trade Commissioner, or Tourist Commissioner of a Commonwealth country (including New Zealand); and includes any person lawfully acting for any such officer; and also includes any diplomatic secretary on the staff of any such Ambassador, High Commissioner, Minister, or Chargé d'Affaires

**court** means the Family Court or the District Court in its civil jurisdiction; and includes the High Court acting in its jurisdiction on appeal under this Act

**department** means the department for the time being responsible for the administration of the Oranga Tamariki Act 1989

interim order means an interim order made under this Act

**Maori** means a person who is a Maori within the meaning of Te Ture Whenua Maori Act 1993

**publish**, in relation to any advertisement, means—

- (a) insert in any newspaper or other periodical publication printed and published in New Zealand; or
- (b) bring to the notice of members of the public in New Zealand in any other manner whatsoever

Registrar, in relation to any court, means the Registrar of that court and includes any Deputy Registrar

**relative**, in relation to any child, means a grandparent, brother, sister, uncle, or aunt, whether of the full blood, of the half blood, or by affinity

#### social worker-

- (a) In relation to any application or proposed application by a Maori, whether jointly or singly, for an adoption order in respect of a Maori child, means—
  - (i) any Maori person employed as a social worker in the department; or
  - (ii) any member of the Maori community nominated, after consultation with the Maori community, by the chief executive to carry out the duties of a social worker under this Act in respect of the adoption:
- (b) in relation to any other application or proposed application for an adoption order, means—
  - (i) any person employed as a social worker in the department; or
  - (ii) if the court so directs, any member of the Maori community nominated, after consultation with the Maori community, by the chief executive to carry out the duties of a social worker under this Act in respect of the adoption.

Compare: 1908 No 86 s 15; 1939 No 39 s 34

Section 2 **adoption order**: amended, on 24 September 1965, by section 5(2) of the Adoption Amendment Act 1965 (1965 No 32).

Section 2 **adoption order**: amended, on 1 April 1963, by section 2(a) of the Adoption Amendment Act 1962 (1962 No 134).

Section 2 **adoptive parent**: amended, on 19 August 2013, by section 9 of the Marriage (Definition of Marriage) Amendment Act 2013 (2013 No 20).

Section 2 **chief executive**: inserted, on 1 October 1999, by section 13 of the Department of Child, Youth and Family Services Act 1999 (1999 No 82).

Section 2 **child**: amended, on 1 January 1971, by section 6 of the Age of Majority Act 1970 (1970 No 137).

Section 2 **child welfare officer**: repealed, on 1 April 1972, by section 23(1) of the Department of Social Welfare Act 1971 (1971 No 60).

Section 2 **court**: replaced, on 1 October 1981, by section 17(1) of the Family Courts Act 1980 (1980 No 161).

Section 2 **court**: amended, on 1 March 2017, by section 261 of the District Court Act 2016 (2016 No 49).

Section 2 **department**: inserted, on 1 October 1999, by section 13 of the Department of Child, Youth and Family Services Act 1999 (1999 No 82).

Section 2 **department**: amended, on 14 July 2017, by section 149 of the Children, Young Persons, and Their Families (Oranga Tamariki) Legislation Act 2017 (2017 No 31).

Section 2 **Director-General**: repealed, on 1 October 1999, by section 13 of the Department of Child, Youth and Family Services Act 1999 (1999 No 82).

Section 2 father: repealed, on 1 January 1970, by section 12(2) of the Status of Children Act 1969 (1969 No 18).

Section 2 Maori: amended, on 23 March 1995, by section 2(1) of the Adoption Amendment Act 1995 (1995 No 4).

Section 2 **Registrar**: amended (with effect on 27 October 1955), on 24 September 1965, by section 2(2) of the Adoption Amendment Act 1965 (1965 No 32).

Section 2 relative: replaced, on 1 January 1970, by section 12(2) of the Status of Children Act 1969 (1969 No 18).

Section 2 **social worker**: replaced, on 23 March 1995, by section 2(2) of the Adoption Amendment Act 1995 (1995 No 4).

Section 2 **social worker** paragraph (a)(i): amended, on 7 August 2020, by section 135 of the Public Service Act 2020 (2020 No 40).

Section 2 **social worker** paragraph (a)(i): amended, on 1 October 1999, by section 13 of the Department of Child, Youth and Family Services Act 1999 (1999 No 82).

Section 2 social worker paragraph (a)(ii): amended, on 1 October 1999, by section 13 of the Department of Child, Youth and Family Services Act 1999 (1999 No 82).

Section 2 **social worker** paragraph (b)(i): amended, on 7 August 2020, by section 135 of the Public Service Act 2020 (2020 No 40).

Section 2 **social worker** paragraph (b)(i): amended, on 1 October 1999, by section 13 of the Department of Child, Youth and Family Services Act 1999 (1999 No 82).

Section 2 **social worker** paragraph (b)(ii): amended, on 1 October 1999, by section 13 of the Department of Child, Youth and Family Services Act 1999 (1999 No 82).

Section 2 **Superintendent of Child Welfare**: repealed, on 1 April 1972, by section 23(2) of the Department of Social Welfare Act 1971 (1971 No 60).

## Making of adoption orders

## 3 Power to make adoption orders

- (1) Subject to the provisions of this Act, a court may, upon an application made by any person whether domiciled in New Zealand or not, make an adoption order in respect of any child, whether domiciled in New Zealand or not.
- (2) An adoption order may be made on the application of 2 spouses jointly in respect of a child.
- (3) An adoption order may be made in respect of the adoption of a child by the mother or father of the child, either alone or jointly with his or her spouse.

Compare: 1908 No 86 ss 16, 17; Adoption Act 1950 s 1 (UK)

#### 4 Restrictions on making adoption orders

- (1) Except in special circumstances, an adoption order shall not be made in respect of a child unless the applicant or, in the case of a joint application, one of the applicants—
  - (a) has attained the age of 25 years and is at least 20 years older than the child; or
  - (b) has attained the age of 20 years and is a relative of the child; or
  - (c) is the mother or father of the child.

- (2) An adoption order shall not be made in respect of a child who is a female in favour of a sole applicant who is a male unless the court is satisfied that the applicant is the father of the child or that there are special circumstances which justify the making of an adoption order.
- (3) Except as provided in subsection (2) of section 3, an adoption order shall not be made providing for the adoption of a child by more than 1 person.
- (4) Any adoption order made in contravention of this section shall be valid, but may be discharged by the court under section 20.
- (5) Where any adoption order made in contravention of this section provides for the adoption of a child by more than 1 person, the High Court may, on the application of any such person made at any time while the adoption order remains in force, make such provision as appears just with respect to the role of providing day-to-day care for the child, and with respect to the maintenance and education of the child.

Compare: 1908 No 86 ss 16, 17, 19; Adoption Act 1950 s 2 (UK)

Section 4(1)(a): amended, on 1 January 1971, by section 6 of the Age of Majority Act 1970 (1970 No 137).

Section 4(1)(b): amended, on 1 January 1971, by section 6 of the Age of Majority Act 1970 (1970 No 137).

Section 4(5): amended, on 1 July 2005, by section 151 of the Care of Children Act 2004 (2004 No 90).

Section 4(5): amended, on 1 April 1980, pursuant to section 12 of the Judicature Amendment Act 1979 (1979 No 124).

#### 5 Interim orders to be made in first instance

Upon any application for an adoption order, if the court considers that the application should be granted, it shall in the first instance make an interim order in favour of the applicant or applicants:

provided that the court may in any case make an adoption order without first making an interim order, if—

- (a) all the conditions of this Act governing the making of an interim order have been complied with; and
- (b) special circumstances render it desirable that an adoption order should be made in the first instance.

## 6 Restrictions on placing or keeping a child in a home for adoption

- (1) It shall not be lawful for any person to place or receive or keep any child under the age of 15 years in the home of any person for the purpose of adoption, unless—
  - (a) prior approval has been given by a social worker, and that approval is for the time being in force; or
  - (b) an interim order in respect of the proposed adoption is for the time being in force.

- (2) Any approval granted by a social worker for the purposes of this section shall remain in force for 1 month after it is granted:
  - provided that, where application to the court for an adoption order is made before the expiration of 1 month from the date of the grant of the approval, the approval shall remain in force until the application is abandoned or dismissed or an order is made by the court on the application.
- (3) An interim order may be made by the court in respect of a child notwithstanding that a social worker has refused to grant an approval under this section.
- (4) This section shall not apply in any case where—
  - (a) the child is in the home pursuant to any provision of the Oranga Tamariki Act 1989 or to an order made pursuant to that Act; or
  - (b) the child is in the home pursuant to an order made pursuant to the Care of Children Act 2004; or
  - (c) the child is in the home of one of the child's parents and a step-parent of the child; or
  - (d) the child is in the home of a relative of the child (not being a relative who, in the absence of special circumstances, is prohibited, by reason of age or sex, from adopting the child).

Section 6(1)(a): amended, on 1 April 1972, by section 23(4)(b) of the Department of Social Welfare Act 1971 (1971 No 60).

Section 6(2): amended, on 1 April 1972, by section 23(4)(b) of the Department of Social Welfare Act 1971 (1971 No 60).

Section 6(3): amended, on 1 April 1972, by section 23(4)(b) of the Department of Social Welfare Act 1971 (1971 No 60).

Section 6(4): replaced, on 1 November 1989, by section 450(1) of the Children, Young Persons, and Their Families Act 1989 (1989 No 24).

Section 6(4)(a): amended on 14 July 2017, by section 149 of the Children, Young Persons, and Their Families (Oranga Tamariki) Legislation Act 2017 (2017 No 31).

Section 6(4)(b): amended, on 1 July 2005, by section 151 of the Care of Children Act 2004 (2004 No 90).

#### 7 Consents to adoptions

- (1) Before the court makes any interim order, or makes any adoption order without first making an interim order, consents to the adoption by all persons (if any) whose consents are required in accordance with this section shall be filed in the court.
- (2) The persons whose consents to any such order in respect of any child are required as aforesaid, unless they are dispensed with by the court under section 8, shall be—
  - (a) the parents and guardians of the child as provided in subsections (3) to (5); and

- (b) the spouse of the applicant in any case where the application is made by either spouse alone.
- (3) The parents and guardians whose consents to any such order in respect of any child are required as aforesaid, unless they are dispensed with by the court under section 8, shall be,
  - if the parents of the child were married to each other either at the time of the child's birth or at or after the time of his conception or if the father as well as the mother is or was a guardian of the child and there is no adoption order in force in respect of the child, the surviving parents or parent and (if the guardianship concerned has not been terminated, for example, by the child turning 18 years of age) the surviving guardians or guardian appointed by a deceased parent:
  - in any other case where there is no adoption order in force in respect of (b) the child, the mother or (if she is dead, and the guardianship concerned has not been terminated, for example, by the child turning 18 years of age) the surviving guardians or guardian appointed by her:
    - provided that the court may in any such case require the consent of the father if in the opinion of the court it is expedient to do so:
  - (c) if there is an adoption order in force in respect of the child, the surviving adoptive parents or parent and (if the guardianship concerned has not been terminated, for example, by the child turning 18 years of age) the surviving guardians or guardian appointed by any deceased adoptive parent.
- (4) Subject to the prior consent of the chief executive, any parent who desires to have his or her child adopted may in writing appoint the chief executive as the guardian of the child until such time as the child is legally adopted, and may impose conditions with respect to the religious denomination and practice of the applicants or any applicant to adopt the child or as to the religious denomination in which the applicants or applicant intend to bring up the child; and the chief executive, when so appointed, may give such consent to the adoption of the child as is required from the person who appointed him as guardian of the child:

provided that any such appointment by the mother of a child shall be void unless the child is at least 10 days old at the date of the appointment:

provided also that nothing in this subsection shall relieve the parent from any liability for the maintenance of the child until the child is adopted.

- (5) In the case of a refugee child within the meaning of Part 1 of the Child Welfare Amendment Act 1948, a consent by the chief executive, or by any other person who has been granted the guardianship of the child under that Act, shall take the place of every other consent by a parent or guardian of the child.
- The consent by any parent or guardian of a child to an adoption may be given (6)(either unconditionally or subject to conditions with respect to the religious

denomination and practice of the applicants or any applicant or as to the religious denomination in which the applicants or applicant intend to bring up the child) without the parent or guardian knowing the identity of the applicant for the order.

- (7) A document signifying consent by a mother of a child to an adoption shall not be admissible unless the child is at least 10 days old at the date of the execution of the document.
- (8) Except where it is given by the chief executive, a document signifying consent to an adoption shall not be admissible unless,—
  - (a) if given in New Zealand, it is witnessed by a District Court Judge, a Family Court Judge, a Family Court Associate, a Registrar of the High Court or of the District Court, or a solicitor, or a Judge or Commissioner or Registrar of the Maori Land Court:
  - (aa) if given in the Cook Islands or Niue, it is witnessed by—
    - (i) the New Zealand Representative; or
    - (ii) a Judge, Registrar, or Deputy Registrar, of the High Court of the Cook Islands or the High Court of Niue (as the case requires); or
    - (iii) a solicitor of the High Court of the Cook Islands or the High Court of Niue (as the case requires) or the High Court of New Zealand:
  - (b) if given in any other country, it is witnessed by and sealed with the seal of office of a notary public or Commonwealth representative who exercises his office or functions in that country.
- (9) Except where it is given by the chief executive, the form of the document signifying consent to an adoption shall contain an explanation of the effect of an adoption order, and shall have endorsed thereon a certificate by the witness that he has personally explained the effect of an adoption order to the person who is giving the consent.
- (10) Every person who is an applicant for an adoption order shall be deemed to consent to the adoption, and it shall not be necessary for him or her to file a formal consent under this section.

Compare: 1908 No 86 s 18; 1947 No 60 s 26; 1948 No 48 s 10; Adoption Act 1950 s 3(3) (UK)

Section 7(2)(b): amended, on 19 August 2013, by section 9 of the Marriage (Definition of Marriage) Amendment Act 2013 (2013 No 20).

Section 7(3)(a): replaced, on 1 January 1970, by section 12(2) of the Status of Children Act 1969 (1969 No 18).

Section 7(3)(a): amended, on 1 July 2005, by section 151 of the Care of Children Act 2004 (2004 No 90).

Section 7(3)(b): replaced, on 1 January 1970, by section 12(2) of the Status of Children Act 1969 (1969 No 18).

Section 7(3)(b): amended, on 1 July 2005, by section 151 of the Care of Children Act 2004 (2004 No 90).

Section 7(3)(c): amended, on 1 July 2005, by section 151 of the Care of Children Act 2004 (2004 No 90).

Section 7(4): amended, on 1 October 1999, by section 13 of the Department of Child, Youth and Family Services Act 1999 (1999 No 82).

Section 7(5): amended, on 1 October 1999, by section 13 of the Department of Child, Youth and Family Services Act 1999 (1999 No 82).

Section 7(8): amended, on 1 October 1999, by section 13 of the Department of Child, Youth and Family Services Act 1999 (1999 No 82).

Section 7(8)(a): amended, on 6 October 2023, by section 9 of the Family Court (Family Court Associates) Legislation Act 2023 (2023 No 25).

Section 7(8)(a): amended, on 1 March 2017, by section 261 of the District Court Act 2016 (2016 No 49).

Section 7(8)(a): amended, on 1 April 1980, pursuant to section 18(2) of the District Courts Amendment Act 1979 (1979 No 125).

Section 7(8)(a): amended, on 1 April 1980, pursuant to section 12 of the Judicature Amendment Act 1979 (1979 No 124).

Section 7(8)(aa): replaced, on 25 March 1987, by section 2(1) of the Adoption Amendment Act 1987 (1987 No 19).

Section 7(9): amended, on 1 October 1999, by section 13 of the Department of Child, Youth and Family Services Act 1999 (1999 No 82).

#### 8 Cases where consent may be dispensed with

- (1) The court may dispense with the consent of any parent or guardian to the adoption of a child in any of the following circumstances:
  - (a) if the court is satisfied that the parent or guardian has abandoned, neglected, persistently failed to maintain, or persistently ill-treated the child, or failed to exercise the normal duty and care of parenthood in respect of the child; and that reasonable notice of the application for an adoption order has been given to the parent or guardian where the parent or guardian can be found:
  - (b) if the court is satisfied that the parent or guardian is unfit, by reason of any physical or mental incapacity, to have the care and control of the child; that the unfitness is likely to continue indefinitely; and that reasonable notice of the application for an adoption order has been given to the parent or guardian:
  - (c) if a licence has been granted in respect of the child under section 40 of the Adoption Act 1950 of the Parliament of the United Kingdom, or under the corresponding provisions of any former or subsequent Act of that Parliament, or under the corresponding provisions of any Act of the Parliament of any Commonwealth country.
- (2) The court may dispense with the consent of any parent or guardian as aforesaid notwithstanding that the parent or guardian may have made suitable initial arrangements for the child by placing the child under the care of the authorities of a children's home, the chief executive, or some other person.

- (3) On application by any person having the care of a child, the court may dispense with the consent of a parent or guardian of a child under this section before any application is made for an adoption order in respect of the child; and any order so made shall lapse after the expiration of 6 months from the date on which it is made for all purposes except an application made to the court within that period for an adoption order in respect of the child.
- (4) The court may dispense with the consent of the spouse of an applicant for an adoption order if it is satisfied that the spouses are living apart and that their separation is likely to be permanent.
- (5) In any case where a mentally disordered person is a parent or guardian of a child in respect of whom an application for an adoption order has been made, service of notice of the application on the manager or administrator of the estate of the parent or guardian, or on the person with whom the parent or guardian resides or under whose care he is, shall (unless the court otherwise orders) be sufficient service thereof for the purposes of this section.
- (5A) In any case where the District Court or Family Court has refused to make an order dispensing with the consent of any parent or guardian or spouse, the person or persons who sought the dispensation may, within 1 month after the date of the refusal, appeal to the High Court against the refusal; and the High Court may dispense with the consent if it thinks fit.
- (6) Any person whose consent is dispensed with under this section may, on notice to every applicant for an adoption order in respect of the child and within 1 month after the making of the order dispensing with consent, make application for the revocation of that order and of any consequential interim order to the High Court; and the court to which the application is so made may in its discretion revoke any such order.
- (7) In any case where the court has made an adoption order within 1 month after making the order dispensing with consent, any person whose consent is dispensed with under this section may, on notice to every adoptive parent and within 1 month after the making of the order dispensing with consent, make application for the revocation of that order and the discharge of the adoption order to the High Court; and the court to which the application is so made may in its discretion discharge any such order. All the provisions of section 20, so far as they are applicable and with the necessary modifications, shall apply in connection with any such discharge of an adoption order.
- (8) In any case where the High Court revokes any interim order or discharges any adoption order in accordance with this section, that court may include in its order an order for the refund by some person specified in the order of money spent by any adopter or proposed adopter for the child's benefit. Any such order for the refund of money shall be enforceable as a judgment of the court which made the order in favour of the person to whom the money has to be repaid.

(9) In subsections (1) to (5), the jurisdiction of the Family Court may be exercised by a Family Court Judge or Family Court Associate.

Compare: 1908 No 86 s 23; 1941 No 26 s 36; 1951 No 81 s 15; Adoption Act 1950 s 3 (UK).

Section 8(2): amended, on 1 October 1999, by section 13 of the Department of Child, Youth and Family Services Act 1999 (1999 No 82).

Section 8(5): amended, on 1 April 1970, pursuant to section 129(4) of the Mental Health Act 1969 (1969 No 16).

Section 8(5): amended, on 1 April 1970, pursuant to section 129(7) of the Mental Health Act 1969 (1969 No 16).

Section 8(5A): inserted, on 24 September 1965, by section 3 of the Adoption Amendment Act 1965 (1965 No 32).

Section 8(5A): amended, on 6 October 2023, by section 10(1) of the Family Court (Family Court Associates) Legislation Act 2023 (2023 No 25).

Section 8(5A): amended, on 1 March 2017, by section 261 of the District Court Act 2016 (2016 No 49).

Section 8(5A): amended, on 1 April 1980, pursuant to section 12 of the Judicature Amendment Act 1979 (1979 No 124).

Section 8(6): amended, on 1 April 1980, pursuant to section 12 of the Judicature Amendment Act 1979 (1979 No 124).

Section 8(6): amended, on 1 April 1963, by section 4(1) of the Adoption Amendment Act 1962 (1962 No 134).

Section 8(7): amended, on 1 April 1980, pursuant to section 12 of the Judicature Amendment Act 1979 (1979 No 124).

Section 8(7): amended, on 1 April 1963, by section 4(2) of the Adoption Amendment Act 1962 (1962 No 134).

Section 8(8): amended, on 1 April 1980, pursuant to section 12 of the Judicature Amendment Act 1979 (1979 No 124).

Section 8(8): amended, on 1 April 1963, by section 4(3) of the Adoption Amendment Act 1962 (1962 No 134).

Section 8(9): inserted, on 6 October 2023, by section 10(2) of the Family Court (Family Court Associates) Legislation Act 2023 (2023 No 25).

#### 9 Withdrawal of consents

- (1) Where any consent to an adoption of a child by any specified person or persons is given by any parent or guardian of the child except the chief executive, the consent shall not be withdrawn at any time while an application by the said person or persons to adopt the child is pending, or until the said person or persons have had a reasonable opportunity to make an application to adopt the child.
- (2) Subject to the provisions of subsection (1), any consent to an adoption, and any appointment of the chief executive as the guardian of a child under subsection (4) of section 7, may be withdrawn at any time while neither an interim order nor an adoption order has been made in connection with the adoption, but shall not be withdrawn after any such order has been made. Where any such appointment of the chief executive is so withdrawn, any consent given by him shall lapse.

Section 9(1): amended, on 1 October 1999, by section 13 of the Department of Child, Youth and Family Services Act 1999 (1999 No 82).

Section 9(2): amended, on 1 October 1999, by section 13 of the Department of Child, Youth and Family Services Act 1999 (1999 No 82).

## 10 Social worker to report

- (1) Before the court makes any interim order, or makes any adoption order without first making an interim order,—
  - (a) the Registrar of the court shall require a social worker to furnish a report on the application;
  - (b) reasonable time shall be allowed to enable the social worker to furnish a report, and the court shall consider any report which the social worker may furnish; and
  - (c) the Registrar shall give the social worker reasonable notice of the hearing of the application:

provided that this subsection shall not apply in any case where the applicant or one of the applicants is an existing parent of the child, whether his natural parent or his adoptive parent under any previous adoption.

(2) The social worker shall be entitled to appear at the hearing of the application, and to cross-examine, call evidence, and address the court.

Section 10 heading: amended, on 1 April 1972, by section 23(4)(b) of the Department of Social Welfare Act 1971 (1971 No 60).

Section 10(1)(a): amended, on 1 April 1972, by section 23(4)(b) of the Department of Social Welfare Act 1971 (1971 No 60).

Section 10(1)(b): amended, on 1 April 1972, by section 23(4)(b) of the Department of Social Welfare Act 1971 (1971 No 60).

Section 10(1)(c): amended, on 1 April 1972, by section 23(4)(b) of the Department of Social Welfare Act 1971 (1971 No 60).

Section 10(2): amended, on 1 April 1972, by section 23(4)(b) of the Department of Social Welfare Act 1971 (1971 No 60).

#### 11 Restrictions on making of orders in respect of adoption

Before making any interim order or adoption order in respect of any child, the court shall be satisfied—

- (a) that every person who is applying for the order is a fit and proper person to have the role of providing day-to-day care for the child and of sufficient ability to bring up, maintain, and educate the child; and
- (b) that the welfare and interests of the child will be promoted by the adoption, due consideration being for this purpose given to the wishes of the child, having regard to the age and understanding of the child; and
- (c) that any condition imposed by any parent or guardian of the child with respect to the religious denomination and practice of the applicants or

any applicant or as to the religious denomination in which the applicants or applicant intend to bring up the child is being complied with.

Compare: 1908 No 86 s 18(1)(c); Adoption Act 1950 s 5 (UK)

Section 11(a): amended, on 1 July 2005, by section 151 of the Care of Children Act 2004 (2004 No 90).

#### 12 Revocation of interim order

- (1) On the application of any person, the court may in its discretion revoke an interim order in respect of any child on such terms as the court thinks fit, including an order for the refund by some person specified in the order of money spent by any proposed adopter for the child's benefit.
- (1A) Where on the application of any person the District Court has refused to revoke an interim order in respect of any child, that person may, within 1 month after the date of the refusal, appeal to the High Court against the refusal; and the High Court may in its discretion make any order which the District Court could have made under subsection (1).
- (1B) Where any interim order has been revoked as aforesaid, the person or persons in whose favour the interim order was made may, within 1 month after the date of the revocation, appeal to the High Court against the revocation or against the terms of the revocation; and the High Court may, if it thinks fit, cancel the revocation or vary the terms thereof.
- (2) Any such order for the refund of money shall be enforceable as a judgment of the court in favour of the person to whom the money has to be repaid.

Section 12(1A): inserted, on 24 September 1965, by section 4 of the Adoption Amendment Act 1965 (1965 No 32).

Section 12(1A): amended, on 1 March 2017, by section 261 of the District Court Act 2016 (2016 No 49).

Section 12(1A): amended, on 1 April 1980, pursuant to section 18(2) of the District Courts Amendment Act 1979 (1979 No 125).

Section 12(1A): amended, on 1 April 1980, pursuant to section 12 of the Judicature Amendment Act 1979 (1979 No 124).

Section 12(1B): inserted, on 24 September 1965, by section 4 of the Adoption Amendment Act 1965 (1965 No 32).

Section 12(1B): amended, on 1 April 1980, pursuant to section 12 of the Judicature Amendment Act 1979 (1979 No 124).

#### 13 Issue of adoption order where an interim order has been made

- (1) The person or persons in whose favour an interim order has been made in respect of any child may apply to the court for the issue of an adoption order in respect of the child, if,—
  - (a) the interim order is in force at the date of the application and has continued in force for not less than the prescribed period specified in subsection (2); and

- (b) in any case where the child is under the age of 15 years, the child has been continuously in the care of the applicant or applicants for not less than the said prescribed period since the adoption was first approved by a social worker or the interim order was made, whichever first occurred.
- (2) The prescribed period mentioned in subsection (1) shall be 6 months, or such shorter period as may in special circumstances be specified by the court either in the interim order or, whether or not a shorter period has already been specified in the interim order, subsequent to the making of the interim order.
- (2A) Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions of this section, the court may, if special circumstances render it desirable to do so, issue an adoption order before the termination of the prescribed period:
  - provided that no order under this subsection shall be made without a hearing by the court.
- (3) Where an application is duly made to the court under subsection (1), the Registrar shall issue the adoption order without any further hearing if—
  - (a) a social worker has filed a report recommending that an adoption order be issued;
  - (b) the interim order did not require the application to be dealt with by the court;
  - (c) no proceedings for the revocation of the interim order are pending in the District Court or on an appeal to the High Court; and
  - (d) the District Court has not, within the immediately preceding month, refused to revoke the interim order,—

but the adoption order shall not be issued without a further hearing in any other case.

- (4) In any case where a hearing by the court of an application under this section is required as aforesaid—
  - (a) the Registrar shall require a social worker to furnish a report on the application:
  - (b) the Registrar shall appoint a time and place for the hearing of the application, and in so doing shall allow reasonable time to enable the social worker to furnish his report as aforesaid:
  - (c) the court shall consider any report which the social worker may furnish:
  - (d) the Registrar shall give the social worker reasonable notice of the hearing of the application, and the social worker shall be entitled to appear, cross-examine, call evidence, and address the court.
- (5) In any case where an adoption order could issue under this section in favour of 1 person only, the court may, upon application by that person and his or her spouse and after further hearing, issue the adoption order in favour of that per-

son and his or her spouse jointly without requiring any further consents to the adoption.

Section 13(1)(b): amended, on 1 April 1972, by section 23(4)(b) of the Department of Social Welfare Act 1971 (1971 No 60).

Section 13(2): replaced, on 1 April 1963, by section 5 of the Adoption Amendment Act 1962 (1962 No 134).

Section 13(2A): inserted, on 1 April 1963, by section 5 of the Adoption Amendment Act 1962 (1962 No 134).

Section 13(3): replaced, on 1 April 1963, by section 5 of the Adoption Amendment Act 1962 (1962 No 134).

Section 13(3)(a): amended, on 1 April 1972, by section 23(4)(b) of the Department of Social Welfare Act 1971 (1971 No 60).

Section 13(3)(b): amended, on 24 September 1965, by section 5(3) of the Adoption Amendment Act 1965 (1965 No 32).

Section 13(3)(c): replaced, on 24 September 1965, by section 5(4) of the Adoption Amendment Act 1965 (1965 No 32).

Section 13(3)(c): amended, on 1 March 2017, by section 261 of the District Court Act 2016 (2016 No 49).

Section 13(3)(c): amended, on 1 April 1980, pursuant to section 12 of the Judicature Amendment Act 1979 (1979 No 124).

Section 13(3)(d): inserted, on 24 September 1965, by section 5(4) of the Adoption Amendment Act 1965 (1965 No 32).

Section 13(3)(d): amended, on 1 March 2017, by section 261 of the District Court Act 2016 (2016 No 49).

Section 13(4): replaced, on 1 April 1963, by section 5 of the Adoption Amendment Act 1962 (1962 No 134).

Section 13(4)(a): amended, on 1 April 1972, by section 23(4)(b) of the Department of Social Welfare Act 1971 (1971 No 60).

Section 13(4)(b): amended, on 1 April 1972, by section 23(4)(b) of the Department of Social Welfare Act 1971 (1971 No 60).

Section 13(4)(c): amended, on 1 April 1972, by section 23(4)(b) of the Department of Social Welfare Act 1971 (1971 No 60).

Section 13(4)(d): amended, on 1 April 1972, by section 23(4)(b) of the Department of Social Welfare Act 1971 (1971 No 60).

#### 13A Appeal against refusal to make interim order or adoption order

In any case where the District Court has refused to make an interim order or an adoption order in respect of any child, the person or persons who applied for the order may, within 1 month after the date of the refusal, appeal to the High Court against the decision; and the High Court may, if it thinks fit, grant the order that is sought.

Section 13A: inserted, on 24 September 1965, by section 5(1) of the Adoption Amendment Act 1965 (1965 No 32).

Section 13A: amended, on 1 March 2017, by section 261 of the District Court Act 2016 (2016 No 49).

Section 13A: amended, on 1 April 1980, pursuant to section 12 of the Judicature Amendment Act 1979 (1979 No 124).

s 13A

## 14 Date on which adoption order becomes effective

- (1) An adoption order made after the commencement of this Act shall be deemed to be made.—
  - (a) in any case where it is issued after an interim order has been made and without further hearing, on the date on which it is so issued:
  - (b) in any other case, on the date of the actual granting of the order by the court, whether or not a formal order is ever signed.
- (2) Where before the commencement of this Act an adoption order has been granted in New Zealand by any court but no adoption order in the prescribed form has ever been signed, the order shall be deemed to have been signed and to have become effective on the date of the actual granting of the order by the court:

provided that, for the purposes of any deed or instrument (except a will) made before the commencement of this Act, or of the will or intestacy of any testator or intestate who died before the commencement of this Act, or of any vested or contingent right of the adopted child or any other person under any such deed, instrument, will, or intestacy, this subsection shall not apply to any adoption order which has been granted before the commencement of this Act.

## Effect of interim orders and adoption orders

## 15 Effect of interim order

- (1) An interim order in respect of any child—
  - (a) may require that the adoption order shall not be issued without a further hearing:
  - (b) shall not effect any change in the child's names, but may specify how they are to be changed by the adoption order:
  - (c) shall remain in force for 1 year or until it is sooner revoked or an adoption order is sooner made in respect of the child:
    - provided that a further interim order may be made by the court upon application duly made to it in that behalf:
  - (d) shall not be deemed to be an adoption order for any purpose.
- (2) So long as an interim order remains in force in respect of any child—
  - (a) the person or persons in whose favour the order is made have the role of providing day-to-day care for the child; and must comply with all terms (if any) specified in the order in respect of the role of providing day-today care for the child:
  - (b) any social worker may, at all reasonable times, visit and enter the residence in which the child lives:
  - (c) the child shall not be taken out of New Zealand without leave of the court:

(d) the person or persons in whose favour the order is made shall give to a social worker at least 7 days' notice before changing his, her, or their residence:

provided that where an immediate change of residence is necessitated by an emergency it shall be sufficient if notice is given within 48 hours after leaving the residence occupied prior to the change.

Compare: Adoption Act 1950 s 6(4) (UK)

Section 15(2)(a): replaced, on 1 July 2005, by section 151 of the Care of Children Act 2004 (2004 No 90).

Section 15(2)(b): amended, on 1 April 1972, by section 23(4)(b) of the Department of Social Welfare Act 1971 (1971 No 60).

Section 15(2)(d): amended, on 1 April 1972, by section 23(4)(b) of the Department of Social Welfare Act 1971 (1971 No 60).

#### 16 Effect of adoption order

- (1) Every adoption order shall confer on the adopted child a surname, and 1 or more given names.
- (1A) The names conferred on an adopted child by an adoption order shall be those specified by the applicant for the order, unless the court is satisfied it is not in the public interest for the child to bear those names.
- (1B) Notwithstanding subsection (1), if the court is satisfied that it is contrary to the religious beliefs or cultural traditions of the applicant for an adoption order for the adopted child to bear a given name, the order may confer on the child a surname only.
- (2) Upon an adoption order being made, the following paragraphs of this subsection shall have effect for all purposes, whether civil, criminal, or otherwise, but subject to the provisions of any enactment which distinguishes in any way between adopted children and children other than adopted children, namely:
  - (a) the adopted child shall be deemed to become the child of the adoptive parent, and the adoptive parent shall be deemed to become the parent of the child, as if the child had been born to that parent in lawful wedlock: provided that, where the adopted child is adopted by his mother either alone or jointly with her spouse, the making of the adoption order shall not prevent the making of an affiliation order or maintenance order, or of an application for an affiliation order or maintenance order, in respect of the child:
  - (b) the adopted child shall be deemed to cease to be the child of his existing parents (whether his natural parents or his adoptive parents under any previous adoption), and the existing parents of the adopted child shall be deemed to cease to be his parents, and any existing adoption order in respect of the child shall be deemed to be discharged under section 20: provided that, where the existing parents are the natural parents, the provisions of this paragraph shall not apply for the purposes of any enact-

ment relating to forbidden marriages or civil unions or to the crime of incest:

- (c) the relationship to one another of all persons (whether the adopted child, the adoptive parent, the existing parents, or any other persons) shall be determined in accordance with the foregoing provisions of this subsection so far as they are applicable:
- (d) the foregoing provisions of this subsection shall not apply for the purposes of any deed, instrument, will, or intestacy, or affect any vested or contingent right of the adopted child or any other person under any deed, instrument, will, or intestacy, where the adoption order is made after the date of the deed or instrument or after the date of the death of the testator or intestate, as the case may be, unless in the case of a deed, instrument, or will, express provision is made to that effect:
- (e) subject to the Citizenship Act 1977, the adoption order shall not affect the race, nationality, or citizenship of the adopted child:
- (f) the adopted child shall acquire the domicile of his adoptive parent or adoptive parents, and the child's domicile shall thereafter be determined as if the child had been born in lawful wedlock to the said parent or parents:
- (g) [Repealed]
- (h) any existing appointment as guardian of the adopted child shall cease to have effect:
- (i) any affiliation order or maintenance order in respect of the adopted child and any agreement (not being in the nature of a trust) which provides for payments for the maintenance of the adopted child shall cease to have effect:

provided that, where the adopted child is adopted by his mother either alone or jointly with her spouse, the order or agreement shall not cease to have effect by reason of the making of the adoption order:

provided also that nothing in this paragraph shall prevent the recovery of any arrears which are due under any order or agreement at the date on which it ceases to have effect as aforesaid.

(3) This section shall apply with respect to all adoption orders, whether made before or after the commencement of this Act:

## provided that,—

(a) for the purposes of any appointment, affiliation order, maintenance order, or agreement to which paragraph (h) or paragraph (i) of subsection (2) applies, the adoption order, if made before the commencement of this Act, shall be deemed to have been made on the date of the commencement of this Act:

- (b) for the purposes of any other deed or instrument (except a will) made before the commencement of this Act, or of the will or intestacy of any testator or intestate who died before the commencement of this Act, or of any vested or contingent right of the adopted child or any other person under any such deed, instrument, will, or intestacy, this section shall not apply, and the adoption order shall have effect for the purposes of the deed, instrument, will, or intestacy according to the law existing at the date on which the deed, instrument, will, or intestacy took effect:
- (c) an adoption order made before 1 April 1954 shall not affect the operation of any rule of Maori custom as to intestate succession to Maori land.
- (4) Subsection (2)(i) applies to all maintenance orders, whether made before, on, or after 1 July 1992.
- (5) The first proviso to subsection (2)(a) applies subject to section 6(2) of the Child Support Act 1991.
- (6) The first proviso to subsection (2)(i) applies subject to section 25(2)(b) of the Child Support Act 1991.

Compare: 1950 No 18 s 2

Section 16(1): replaced, on 1 September 1995, by section 95 of the Births, Deaths, Marriages, and Relationships Registration Act 1995 (1995 No 16).

Section 16(1A): inserted, on 1 September 1995, by section 95 of the Births, Deaths, Marriages, and Relationships Registration Act 1995 (1995 No 16).

Section 16(1B): inserted, on 1 September 1995, by section 95 of the Births, Deaths, Marriages, and Relationships Registration Act 1995 (1995 No 16).

Section 16(2)(a) proviso: amended, on 19 August 2013, by section 9 of the Marriage (Definition of Marriage) Amendment Act 2013 (2013 No 20).

Section 16(2)(b) proviso: amended, on 26 April 2005, by section 40(1) of the Civil Union Act 2004 (2004 No 102).

Section 16(2)(e): replaced, on 1 January 1978, by section 30(2) of the Citizenship Act 1977 (1977 No.61).

Section 16(2)(f) proviso: repealed, on 1 January 1981, by section 14(2) of the Domicile Act 1976 (1976 No 17).

Section 16(2)(g): repealed, on 1 January 1981, by section 14(2) of the Domicile Act 1976 (1976 No 17).

Section 16(2)(i) proviso: amended, on 19 August 2013, by section 9 of the Marriage (Definition of Marriage) Amendment Act 2013 (2013 No 20).

Section 16(4): inserted, on 1 July 1992, by section 243 of the Child Support Act 1991 (1991 No 142).

Section 16(5): inserted, on 1 July 1992, by section 243 of the Child Support Act 1991 (1991 No 142).

Section 16(6): inserted, on 1 July 1992, by section 243 of the Child Support Act 1991 (1991 No 142).

Section 16(6): amended, on 1 April 2015, by section 35 of the Child Support Amendment Act 2013 (2013 No 12).

## 17 Effect of overseas adoption

- (1) Where a person has been adopted (whether before or after the commencement of this section) in any place outside New Zealand according to the law of that place, and the adoption is one to which this section applies, then, for the purposes of this Act and all other New Zealand enactments and laws, the adoption shall have the same effect as an adoption order validly made under this Act, and shall have no other effect.
- (2) Subsection (1) shall apply to an adoption in any place outside New Zealand, if.—
  - (a) the adoption is legally valid according to the law of that place; and
  - (b) in consequence of the adoption, the adoptive parents or any adoptive parent had, or would (if the adopted person had been a young child) have had, immediately following the adoption, according to the law of that place, a right superior to that of any natural parent of the adopted person in respect of the role of providing day-to-day care for the person; and
  - (c) either—
    - (i) the adoption order was made by any court or judicial or public authority whatsoever of a Commonwealth country, or of the United States of America, or of any State or territory of the United States of America, or of any other country which the Governor-General, by an Order in Council that is for the time being in force, has directed to be deemed to be referred to in this subparagraph; or
    - (ii) in consequence of the adoption, the adoptive parents or any adoptive parent had, immediately following the adoption, according to the law of that place, a right superior to or equal with that of any natural parent in respect of any property of the adopted person which was capable of passing to the parents or any parent of the person in the event of the person dying intestate without other next of kin and domiciled in the place where the adoption was made and a national of the State which had jurisdiction in respect of that place—

but not otherwise.

- (2A) The production of a document purporting to be the original or a certified copy of an order or record of adoption made by a court or a judicial or public authority in any place outside New Zealand shall, in the absence of proof to the contrary, be sufficient evidence that the adoption was made and that it is legally valid according to the law of that place.
- (3) Nothing in this section shall restrict or alter the effect of any other adoption made in any place outside New Zealand.

- (4) In this section the term **New Zealand** does not include any territory in which this Act is not in force.
- (5) This section does not apply to any adoption in another Contracting State that is an adoption—
  - (a) by a person habitually resident in New Zealand; and
  - (b) to which the Convention applies; and
  - (c) which takes place in that Contracting State on or after the date on which the Convention has entered into force as between New Zealand and that Contracting State.
- (6) In subsection (5), **Contracting State** and **Convention** have the same meaning as in the Adoption (Intercountry) Act 1997.
- (7) An Order in Council under subsection (2)(c)(i) is secondary legislation (see Part 3 of the Legislation Act 2019 for publication requirements).

Legislation Act 2019 requirements for secondary legislation made under this section					
Publication	PCO must publish it on the legislation website and notify it in the <i>Gazette</i>	LA19 s 69(1)(c)			
Presentation	The Minister must present it to the House of Representatives	LA19 s 114, Sch 1 cl 32(1)(a)			
Disallowance	It may be disallowed by the House of Representatives	LA19 ss 115, 116			
This note is not part of the Act.					

Section 17(2)(b): amended, on 1 July 2005, by section 151 of the Care of Children Act 2004 (2004 No 90).

Section 17(2)(c)(i): replaced, on 24 September 1965, by section 6(1) of the Adoption Amendment Act 1965 (1965 No 32).

Section 17(2A): inserted, on 24 September 1965, by section 6(2) of the Adoption Amendment Act 1965 (1965 No 32).

Section 17(5): inserted, on 1 January 1999, by section 25 of the Adoption (Intercountry) Act 1997 (1997 No 109).

Section 17(6): inserted, on 1 January 1999, by section 25 of the Adoption (Intercountry) Act 1997 (1997 No 109).

Section 17(7): inserted, on 28 October 2021, by section 3 of the Secondary Legislation Act 2021 (2021 No 7).

## Maori adoptions

#### 18 Application of Act to Maoris

An adoption order may be made under this Act on the application of any person, whether a Maori or not, in respect of any child, whether a Maori or not.

#### 19 Adoptions according to Maori custom not operative

(1) No person shall hereafter be capable or be deemed at any time since the commencement of the Native Land Act 1909 to have been capable of adopting any child in accordance with Maori custom, and, except as provided in subsection

s 18

- (2), no adoption in accordance with Maori custom shall be of any force or effect, whether in respect of intestate succession to Maori land or otherwise.
- (2) Any adoption in accordance with Maori custom that was made and registered in the Maori Land Court before 31 March 1910 (being the date of the commencement of the Native Land Act 1909), shall during its subsistence be deemed to have and to have had the same force and effect as if it had been lawfully made by an adoption order under Part 9 of the Native Land Act 1909.

Compare: 1953 No 94 s 80

## Miscellaneous

## 20 Adoption order may be varied or discharged

- (1) The court may in its discretion vary or discharge any adoption order (whether the order was made before or after the commencement of this Act), or any adoption to which subsection (2) of section 19 applies, subject to such terms and conditions as it thinks fit.
- (2) The court may, in its discretion and subject to such terms and conditions as it thinks fit, discharge any adoption made in any place outside New Zealand either before or after the commencement of this Act, if—
  - (a) the person adopted is living and is domiciled in New Zealand; and
  - (b) every living adoptive parent is domiciled in New Zealand.
- (3) No application for the discharge of any adoption order or adoption shall be made without the prior approval of the Attorney-General; and no adoption order or adoption shall be discharged unless—
  - (a) the adoption order or adoption was made by mistake as to a material fact or in consequence of a material misrepresentation to the court or to any person concerned; or
  - (b) the discharge is expressly authorized by any other section of this Act.
- (4) Where the court discharges any adoption order or adoption as aforesaid, it may confer on the person to whom the order or adoption related such surname with such first or Christian name as the court thinks fit; but, if it does not do so, the names of the person shall not be affected by the discharge of the order.
- (5) Any person may, at any time within 1 month after the date of the decision of the court under this section, appeal to the High Court against the decision.
- (6) Upon an adoption order, or an adoption to which subsection (1) of section 17 applies, or an adoption to which subsection (2) of section 19 applies, being discharged under this section after the commencement of this Act—
  - (a) the relationship to one another of all persons (whether the adopted child, the adoptive parents, the natural parents, the guardians of the child at the date of the adoption order or adoption, or any other persons) shall be determined as if the adoption order or adoption had not been made; and

Version as at 6 October 2023

any appointment as guardian of the adopted child which was made while the adoption order or adoption was in force shall cease to have effect:

provided that the discharge of the order or adoption shall not affect anything lawfully done or the consequences of anything unlawfully done while the order or adoption was in force:

- (b) no change in the child's domicile shall occur by reason only of the discharge; but, where during the infancy of the child any natural parent resumes the exercise of the role of providing day-to-day care for the child to whom the discharged order or adoption related, the domicile of the child shall thereafter be determined as if neither the discharged order or adoption nor any prior adoption order or adoption in respect of the child had been made:
- (c) any affiliation order, maintenance order, or agreement for payment of maintenance which ceased to have effect under paragraph (i) of subsection (2) of section 16 shall thereafter have effect according to the terms thereof:

provided that nothing in this paragraph shall cause the order or agreement to have any effect in respect of the period while the adoption order or adoption remained in force:

provided also that notice of the discharge of the adoption order or adoption shall be served on every person who is bound by the affiliation order, maintenance order, or agreement, but nothing in this proviso shall restrict the effect of the affiliation order, maintenance order, or agreement between the date of the discharge of the adoption order or adoption and the service of notice of the discharge:

- (d) for the purposes of any other deed or instrument (except a will) made while the order or adoption was in force, or of the will or intestacy of any testator or intestate who died while the order or adoption was in force, or of any vested or contingent right of the adopted child or any other person under any such deed, instrument, will, or intestacy, the order or adoption shall be deemed to continue in force.
- (7) Upon the discharge of any adoption made in any place outside New Zealand, not being an adoption to which subsection (1) of section 17 applies,—
  - (a) if at the date of the discharge adoptions could be discharged in the place where the adoption in question was made, the discharge shall have the same effects as if it was made in that place:
  - (b) if at the date of the discharge adoptions could not be discharged in the place where the adoption in question was made, the discharge shall have the same effects, so far as they are applicable, as the discharge of an adoption order made under this Act.

s 20

(8) Where an adoption order has been discharged before the commencement of this Act, the effect of the discharge shall be determined by reference to the law existing at the date of the discharge.

Compare: 1908 No 86 s 22; 1950 No 18 s 4

Section 20(5): replaced, on 1 April 1963, by section 6 of the Adoption Amendment Act 1962 (1962 No 134).

Section 20(5): amended, on 1 April 1980, pursuant to section 12 of the Judicature Amendment Act 1979 (1979 No 124).

Section 20(6)(b): amended, on 1 July 2005, by section 151 of the Care of Children Act 2004 (2004 No 90).

## 21 Court to which application for adoption order shall be made

## [Repealed]

Section 21: repealed, on 1 April 1963, by section 7 of the Adoption Amendment Act 1962 (1962 No 134).

## 22 Attendance at hearings

- (1) The following persons may attend a hearing of an application under this Act:
  - (a) officers of the court:
  - (b) parties to the proceedings:
  - (c) lawyers representing parties to the proceedings:
  - (d) a social worker who furnished a report under section 10:
  - (e) accredited news media reporters:
  - (f) persons whom the Judge permits to be present as support persons for a party on the request of that party:
  - (g) any other persons whom the Judge permits to be present.
- (2) No other person may attend a hearing of an application under this Act.
- (3) The Judge must agree to a request under subsection (1)(f) unless the Judge considers there is a good reason why the named support persons should not be permitted to be present.
- (4) No support persons may help an applicant conduct his or her case.
- (5) If, during a hearing, the Judge requests a person of any of the following kinds to leave the courtroom, the person must do so:
  - (a) an accredited news media reporter:
  - (b) a support person whom the Judge permitted to be present under subsection (1)(f).
- (6) Nothing in this section limits any other power of the court—
  - (a) to hear proceedings in private; or
  - (b) to permit a McKenzie friend to be present; or
  - (c) to exclude any person from the court.

Section 22: replaced, on 18 May 2009, by section 4 of the Adoption Amendment Act 2008 (2008 No 73).

#### 22A Publication of reports of proceedings

Sections 11B to 11D of the Family Court Act 1980 apply to the publication of a report of any proceedings under this Act—

- (a) in the Family Court:
- (b) in any other court, in which case references in those sections to the Family Court or court must be read as references to that other court.

Section 22A: inserted, on 18 May 2009, by section 4 of the Adoption Amendment Act 2008 (2008 No 73).

Section 22A: amended, on 1 March 2017, by section 261 of the District Court Act 2016 (2016 No 49).

Section 22A(a): replaced, on 1 March 2017, by section 261 of the District Court Act 2016 (2016 No 49).

### 23 Inspection of adoption records

- (1) An adoption order shall be open to inspection by any person who requires to inspect it for some purpose in connection with the administration of an estate or trust of which that person is executor, administrator, or trustee.
- (2) Adoption records are open to inspection by—
  - (a) any Registrar (as defined in section 4 of the Births, Deaths, Marriages, and Relationships Registration Act 2021) or marriage celebrant under the Marriage Act 1955 for the purpose of investigating forbidden degrees of relationship under the Marriage Act 1955; and
  - (b) any Registrar (as so defined) or civil union celebrant under the Civil Union Act 2004 for the purpose of investigating prohibited degrees of civil union under the Civil Union Act 2004.
- (2A) Adoption records are open to inspection by a social worker for the purpose of preparing a report required under section 23A(1).
- (3) Adoption records shall not be available for production or open to inspection except—
  - (a) to the extent authorised by subsections (1), (2), or (2A) of this section or by section 11(4)(b) of the Adult Adoption Information Act 1985; or
  - (b) on the order of a Family Court Associate, a Family Court Judge, the District Court, or the High Court, made—
    - (i) for the purposes of a prosecution for making a false statement; or
    - (ii) in the event of any question as to the validity or effect of any interim order or adoption order; or
    - (iii) on any other special ground.

Section 23: replaced, on 1 March 1986, by section 15 of the Adult Adoption Information Act 1985 (1985 No 127).

Section 23(2): replaced, on 26 April 2005, by section 40(2) of the Civil Union Act 2004 (2004 No 102).

Section 23(2)(a): amended, on 15 June 2023, by section 147 of the Births, Deaths, Marriages, and Relationships Registration Act 2021 (2021 No 57).

Section 23(2A): inserted, on 15 November 2000, by section 3(1) of the Adoption Amendment Act 2000 (2000 No 49).

Section 23(3)(a): amended, on 15 November 2000, by section 3(2) of the Adoption Amendment Act 2000 (2000 No 49).

Section 23(3)(b): amended, on 6 October 2023, by section 11 of the Family Court (Family Court Associates) Legislation Act 2023 (2023 No 25).

Section 23(3)(b): amended, on 1 March 2017, by section 261 of the District Court Act 2016 (2016 No 49).

## 23A Report on application for inspection

- (1) A court may require a social worker to prepare a report following an application for an order under section 23(3)(b) on a ground referred to in subparagraph (iii) of that paragraph ("any other special ground").
- (2) A social worker preparing a report required under subsection (1)—
  - (a) may consider any information obtained for the purpose, including information in the adoption records concerned and the application for the order; but
  - (b) may not consider information relating to any party to the adoption or application that was obtained by the department before the application was made.
- (3) In subsection (1), the jurisdiction of the Family Court may be exercised by a Family Court Judge or Family Court Associate.

Section 23A: inserted, on 15 November 2000, by section 4 of the Adoption Amendment Act 2000 (2000 No 49).

Section 23A(3): inserted, on 6 October 2023, by section 12 of the Family Court (Family Court Associates) Legislation Act 2023 (2023 No 25).

#### 24 Evidence in adoption cases

[Repealed]

Section 24: repealed, on 31 March 2014, by section 17A(a) of the Family Courts Act 1980 (1980 No 161).

## 25 Prohibition of payments in consideration of adoption

- (1) Except with the consent of the court, it shall not be lawful for any person to give or receive or agree to give or receive any payment or reward in consideration of the adoption or proposed adoption of a child or in consideration of the making of arrangements for an adoption or proposed adoption:
- (1A) Subsection (1) does not apply to the payment of the hospital and medical expenses of the confinement of the mother of a child if—

- (a) the expenses are incurred by virtue of the provision by a society or body of persons of hospital care (within the meaning of the Health and Disability Services (Safety) Act 2001); and
- (b) the payment is made by an applicant for an adoption order in respect of the child directly to the society or body; and
- (c) the amount paid has been approved in the particular instance, or is in accordance with a scale approved generally, by the chief executive of the department of State responsible for the administration of the Health and Disability Services (Safety) Act 2001.
- (2) Subsection (1) does not apply to the payment of reasonable costs and expenses to any organisation approved as a New Zealand accredited body under Part 2 of the Adoption (Intercountry) Act 1997, provided those costs and expenses—
  - (a) are in connection with the exercise of a function delegated to that body under Part 1 of that Act; and
  - (b) are set out in an invoice or statement of account rendered by that body which sets out details of the costs and expenses, and the services or functions to which they apply.

Compare: 1908 No 86 s 20

Section 25(1) proviso: repealed, on 1 October 2002, by section 58(1) of the Health and Disability Services (Safety) Act 2001 (2001 No 93).

Section 25(1A): inserted, on 1 October 2002, by section 58(1) of the Health and Disability Services (Safety) Act 2001 (2001 No 93).

Section 25(2): inserted, on 1 January 1999, by section 26 of the Adoption (Intercountry) Act 1997 (1997 No 109).

Section 25(2): amended, on 1 October 2002, by section 58(1) of the Health and Disability Services (Safety) Act 2001 (2001 No 93).

## 26 Restriction upon advertisements

- (1) It shall not be lawful for any person, other than the chief executive or a social worker, to publish any advertisement indicating—
  - (a) that the parent or guardian of a child desires to cause the child to be adopted; or
  - (b) that any person desires to adopt a child; or
  - (c) that any person or body of persons is willing to make arrangements for the adoption of a child:

provided that the chief executive may in his discretion approve in particular cases of advertisements published by any group or society caring for the welfare of children.

- (2) An organisation approved as a New Zealand accredited body under Part 2 of the Adoption (Intercountry) Act 1997 does not commit an offence against subsection (1)(c) by publicly notifying—
  - (a) that it is a New Zealand accredited body under that Act; or

(b) that functions have been delegated to that body under Part 1 of that Act.

Compare: Adoption Act 1950 s 38 (UK)

Section 26(1): amended, on 1 October 1999, by section 13 of the Department of Child, Youth and Family Services Act 1999 (1999 No 82).

Section 26(1): amended, on 1 April 1972, by section 23(4)(b) of the Department of Social Welfare Act 1971 (1971 No 60).

Section 26(1) proviso: amended, on 1 October 1999, by section 13 of the Department of Child, Youth and Family Services Act 1999 (1999 No 82).

Section 26(2): inserted, on 1 January 1999, by section 27 of the Adoption (Intercountry) Act 1997 (1997 No 109).

#### 27 Offences

- (1) Every person commits an offence against this section who—
  - (a) places or receives or keeps any child in the home of any person for the purpose of adoption in contravention of section 6:
  - (b) takes out of New Zealand without leave of the court any child in respect of whom an interim order is in force:
  - (c) being a person in whose favour an interim order has been made, fails to give any notice of change of residence required by paragraph (d) of subsection (2) of section 15:
  - (d) gives or receives or agrees to give or receive any payment in contravention of section 25:
  - (e) publishes any advertisement in contravention of section 26:
  - (f) makes any false statement for the purpose of obtaining or opposing an interim order or adoption order or any variation or discharge of any such order.
- (2) Every person who commits an offence against this section shall be liable on conviction before a District Court Judge to imprisonment for a term not exceeding 3 months or to a fine not exceeding \$15,000 or to both.
- (3) [Repealed]

Section 27 heading: amended, on 1 July 2013, by section 413 of the Criminal Procedure Act 2011 (2011 No 81).

Section 27(2): amended, on 1 July 2013, by section 413 of the Criminal Procedure Act 2011 (2011 No 81).

Section 27(2): amended, on 1 January 1999, by section 28 of the Adoption (Intercountry) Act 1997 (1997 No 109).

Section 27(3): repealed, on 17 August 2011, by section 5(2) of the Adoption Amendment Act 2011 (2011 No 60).

#### 27A Offence to induce consent

(1) Every person commits an offence who induces another person, by fraud, duress, undue influence (by payment or otherwise), or other improper means, to consent to an adoption.

(2) Every person who commits an offence under subsection (1) is liable on conviction to imprisonment for a term not exceeding 7 years.

Section 27A: inserted, on 17 August 2011, by section 6 of the Adoption Amendment Act 2011 (2011 No 60).

Section 27A(2): amended, on 1 July 2013, by section 413 of the Criminal Procedure Act 2011 (2011 No 81).

## 27B Safety of child where offence committed

- (1) Where a court is satisfied that an offence against section 27 or 27A has been committed in respect of any child, the court may order the child to be removed to a place of safety until—
  - (a) the child can be restored to his or her parent or guardian; or
  - (b) other arrangements can be made for the child.
- (2) Subsection (1) applies whether or not any person has been convicted of the offence.

Section 27B: inserted, on 17 August 2011, by section 6 of the Adoption Amendment Act 2011 (2011 No 60).

## 27C Extraterritorial jurisdiction in respect of offence under section 27A as required by Optional Protocol

- (1) In this section, **Optional Protocol** means the Optional Protocol to the Convention on the Rights of the Child on the Sale of Children, Child Prostitution and Child Pornography, adopted by the General Assembly of the United Nations at New York on 25 May 2000.
- (2) Even if the acts alleged to constitute an offence under section 27A occurred wholly outside New Zealand, proceedings may be brought in respect of that offence—
  - (a) if the person to be charged—
    - (i) is a New Zealand citizen; or
    - (ii) is ordinarily resident in New Zealand; or
    - (iii) has been found in New Zealand and has not been extradited; or
    - (iv) is a body corporate, or a corporation sole, incorporated under the law of New Zealand; or
  - (b) if the person whose consent to an adoption has been induced—
    - (i) is a New Zealand citizen; or
    - (ii) is ordinarily resident in New Zealand.
- (3) Nothing in this section limits the application of section 27A in respect of—
  - (a) acts that occurred wholly within New Zealand; or
  - (b) the application of section 7 of the Crimes Act 1961 to the occurrence in New Zealand of—

- (i) an act forming part of an offence; or
- (ii) an event necessary to the completion of an offence; or
- (c) the application of section 8 of the Crimes Act 1961; or
- (d) the application of section 8A of the Crimes Act 1961.

Section 27C: inserted, on 17 August 2011, by section 6 of the Adoption Amendment Act 2011 (2011 No 60).

## 27D Attorney-General's consent required where jurisdiction claimed under section 27C

- (1) No proceedings for an offence against section 27A may be brought in a New Zealand court in respect of any person without the consent of the Attorney-General if jurisdiction over the person is claimed by virtue of section 27C.
- (2) However, a person alleged to have committed an offence against section 27A may be arrested, or a warrant for the person's arrest may be issued and executed, and the person may be remanded in custody or on bail, even though the Attorney-General's consent under subsection (1) has not been obtained.

Section 27D: inserted, on 17 August 2011, by section 6 of the Adoption Amendment Act 2011 (2011 No 60).

## 28 Regulations

- (1) The Governor-General may from time to time, by Order in Council, make all such regulations as may in his opinion be necessary or expedient for giving effect to the provisions of this Act and for the due administration thereof.
- (2) Regulations under this section are secondary legislation (*see* Part 3 of the Legislation Act 2019 for publication requirements).
- (2) [Repealed]

Legislation Act 2019 requirements for secondary legislation made under this section						
Publication	PCO must publish it on the legislation website and notify it in the <i>Gazette</i>	LA19 s 69(1)(c)				
Presentation	The Minister must present it to the House of Representatives	LA19 s 114, Sch 1 cl 32(1)(a)				
Disallowance	It may be disallowed by the House of Representatives	LA19 ss 115, 116				
This note is not part of the Act.						

Section 28(2): inserted, on 28 October 2021, by section 3 of the Secondary Legislation Act 2021 (2021 No 7).

Section 28(2): repealed, on 19 December 1989, by section 11 of the Regulations (Disallowance) Act 1989 (1989 No 143).

## 28A Rules

Rules may be made regulating the practice and procedure of courts in proceedings under this Act,—

(a) in the case of the High Court, under section 148 of the Senior Courts Act 2016:

- (b) in the case of the District Court, under section 228 of the District Court Act 2016:
- (c) in the case of the Family Court, under section 16A of the Family Court Act 1980.

Section 28A: inserted, on 13 September 2002, by section 6 of the Family Courts Amendment Act 2000 (2000 No 65).

Section 28A(a): amended, on 1 March 2017, by section 183(b) of the Senior Courts Act 2016 (2016 No 48).

Section 28A(b): replaced, on 1 March 2017, by section 261 of the District Court Act 2016 (2016 No 49).

Section 28A(c): replaced, on 1 March 2017, by section 261 of the District Court Act 2016 (2016 No 49).

## 29 Consequential amendments

The enactments specified in Schedule 1 are hereby amended in the manner indicated in that schedule.

## 30 Repeals and savings

- (1) The enactments specified in Schedule 2 are hereby repealed.
- (2) Without limiting the provisions of the Interpretation Act 1999, it is hereby declared that the repeal of any provision by this Act shall not affect any document made or any thing whatsoever done under the provision so repealed or under any corresponding former provision, and every such document or thing, so far as it is subsisting or in force at the time of the repeal and could have been made or done under this Act, shall continue and have effect as if it had been made or done under the corresponding provision of this Act and as if that provision had been in force when the document was made or the thing was done.
- (3) All applications, matters, and proceedings commenced under any such enactment and pending or in progress at the commencement of this Act may, at the discretion of the court, be continued and completed,—
  - (a) under this Act; or
  - (b) under the said enactments in all respects as if the said enactments continued in force and as if this Act had not been passed.

Section 30(2): amended, on 1 November 1999, pursuant to section 38(1) of the Interpretation Act 1999 (1999 No 85).

## 31 References to Child Welfare Officer to be read as references to social workers, etc

- (1) Every reference in this Act and its amendments, as in force on or after 1 April 1972, to a Child Welfare Officer must be read as a reference to a social worker.
- (2) Subsection (1) applies—
  - (a) subject to the amendments made by section 23(1) to (3) of the Department of Social Welfare Act 1971; and

- (b) unless the context otherwise requires.
- (3) This section does not affect the operation of section 23(4)(a) of the Department of Social Welfare Act 1971 (which required references to the Superintendent of Child Welfare to be read as references to the Director-General of Social Welfare under that Act) at any time or times—
  - (a) on or after 1 April 1972; and
  - (b) before its repeal, on 1 April 1990, by section 36(6) of the Social Welfare (Transitional Provisions) Act 1990.

Compare: 1971 No 60 s 23(4)(b)

Section 31: inserted, on 26 November 2018, by section 459 of the Social Security Act 2018 (2018 No 31).

## Schedule 1 Consequential amendments

s 29

## Births and Deaths Registration Act 1951 (1951 No 22)

*Amendment(s) incorporated in the Act(s).* 

## Deaths by Accidents Compensation Act 1952 (1952 No 35)

*Amendment(s) incorporated in the Act(s).* 

## Destitute Persons Act 1910 (1910 No 38) (Reprint of Statutes, Vol II, p 896)

*Amendment(s) incorporated in the Act(s).* 

## Education Act 1914 (1914 No 56) (Reprint of Statutes, Vol II, p 1064)

Amendment(s) incorporated in the Act(s).

# Schedule 2 Enactments repealed

s 30(1)

## Child Welfare Act 1925 (1925 No 22) (Reprint of Statutes, Vol III, p 1113)

*Amendment(s) incorporated in the Act(s).* 

## Child Welfare Amendment Act 1948 (1948 No 48)

*Amendment(s) incorporated in the Act(s).* 

## Infants Act 1908 (1908 No 86) (Reprint of Statutes, Vol III, p 1069)

*Amendment(s) incorporated in the Act(s).* 

## Infants Amendment Act 1950 (1950 No 18)

## **Maori Affairs Act 1953 (1953 No 94)**

*Amendment(s) incorporated in the Act(s).* 

## Statutes Amendment Act 1939 (1939 No 39)

*Amendment(s) incorporated in the Act(s).* 

## Statutes Amendment Act 1941 (1941 No 26)

*Amendment(s) incorporated in the Act(s).* 

#### Statutes Amendment Act 1942 (1942 No 18)

Amendment(s) incorporated in the Act(s).

## Statutes Amendment Act 1947 (1947 No 60)

*Amendment(s) incorporated in the Act(s).* 

## Statutes Amendment Act 1951 (1951 No 81)

Amendment(s) incorporated in the Act(s).

#### **Notes**

#### 1 General

This is a consolidation of the Adoption Act 1955 that incorporates the amendments made to the legislation so that it shows the law as at its stated date.

#### 2 Legal status

A consolidation is taken to correctly state, as at its stated date, the law enacted or made by the legislation consolidated and by the amendments. This presumption applies unless the contrary is shown.

Section 78 of the Legislation Act 2019 provides that this consolidation, published as an electronic version, is an official version. A printed version of legislation that is produced directly from this official electronic version is also an official version.

## 3 Editorial and format changes

The Parliamentary Counsel Office makes editorial and format changes to consolidations using the powers under subpart 2 of Part 3 of the Legislation Act 2019. See also PCO editorial conventions for consolidations.

#### 4 Amendments incorporated in this consolidation

Family Court (Family Court Associates) Legislation Act 2023 (2023 No 25): Part 2 subpart 1

Births, Deaths, Marriages, and Relationships Registration Act 2021 (2021 No 57): section 147

Secondary Legislation Act 2021 (2021 No 7): section 3

Public Service Act 2020 (2020 No 40): section 135

Social Security Act 2018 (2018 No 32): section 459

Children, Young Persons, and Their Families (Oranga Tamariki) Legislation Act 2017 (2017 No 31): section 149

District Court Act 2016 (2016 No 49): section 261

Senior Courts Act 2016 (2016 No 48): section 183(b)

Marriage (Definition of Marriage) Amendment Act 2013 (2013 No 20): section 9

Child Support Amendment Act 2013 (2013 No 12): section 35

Criminal Procedure Act 2011 (2011 No 81): section 413

Adoption Amendment Act 2011 (2011 No 60)

Adoption Amendment Act 2008 (2008 No 73)

Civil Union Act 2004 (2004 No 102): section 40

Care of Children Act 2004 (2004 No 90): section 151

Health and Disability Services (Safety) Act 2001 (2001 No 93): section 58(1)

Family Courts Amendment Act 2000 (2000 No 65): section 6

Adoption Amendment Act 2000 (2000 No 49)

Interpretation Act 1999 (1999 No 85): section 38(1)

Department of Child, Youth and Family Services Act 1999 (1999 No 82): section 13

Adoption (Intercountry) Act 1997 (1997 No 109): sections 25-28

Births, Deaths, Marriages, and Relationships Registration Act 1995 (1995 No 16): section 95

Adoption Amendment Act 1995 (1995 No 4)

Child Support Act 1991 (1991 No 142): section 243

Regulations (Disallowance) Act 1989 (1989 No 143): section 11

Children, Young Persons, and Their Families Act 1989 (1989 No 24): section 450(1)

Adoption Amendment Act 1987 (1987 No 19)

Constitution Act 1986 (1986 No 114): section 29(2)

Adult Adoption Information Act 1985 (1985 No 127): section 15

Family Courts Act 1980 (1980 No 161): sections 17(1), 17A(a)

District Courts Amendment Act 1979 (1979 No 125): section 18(2)

Judicature Amendment Act 1979 (1979 No 124): section 12

Citizenship Act 1977 (1977 No 61): section 30(2)

Domicile Act 1976 (1976 No 17): section 14(2)

Department of Social Welfare Act 1971 (1971 No 60): section 23(1), (2), (4)(b)

Age of Majority Act 1970 (1970 No 137): section 6

Status of Children Act 1969 (1969 No 18): section 12(2)

Mental Health Act 1969 (1969 No 16): section 129(4), (7)

Adoption Amendment Act 1965 (1965 No 32)

Adoption Amendment Act 1962 (1962 No 134)

Wellington, New Zealand: